FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/11/2021 9:56 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/11/2021
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

99415-3

Court of Appeals No. 80266-6-I

WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

WASHINGTON STATE ASSOCIATION OF MUNICIPAL
ATTORNEYS, a Washington nonprofit corporation,

Respondent,

v.

WASHINGTON COALITION FOR
OPEN GOVERNMENT,
a Washington nonprofit corporation,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

William John Crittenden, #22033
Attorney at Law
12345 Lake City Way NE 306
Seattle, Washington 98125-5401
(206) 361-5972
bill@billcrittenden.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Washington Coalition for Open Government (WCOG) seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

WCOG seeks review of the *Unpublished Opinion* in *Washington State Association of Municipal Attorneys (WSAMA) v. Washington Coalition for Open Government (WCOG)*, No. 80266-6-I, dated December 14, 2020. **Appendix A.**

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the Washington State Association of Municipal Attorneys (WSAMA)— an organization created and run by full-time city attorneys acting in the scope of their employment as city attorneys—is the functional equivalent of an “agency” subject to the Public Records Act, Chap. 42.56 RCW, under test set forth in *Telford v. Thurston County Board of Commissioners*, 95 Wn. App. 149, 974 P.2d 886 (1999).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The PRA is a strongly-worded mandate for broad disclosure of public records. *Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe*, 90 Wn.2d 123, 127, 580 P.2d 246 (1978). Although the PRA provides an expansive definition of “agency” in RCW 42.56.010(1), the PRA also applies to other entities, including non-profit corporations, that do not meet the definition of “agency” but which

are the “functional equivalent” of agencies under the PRA. *Fortgang v. Woodland Park Zoo*, 187 Wn.2d 509, 517-18, 387 P.3d 690 (2017).

In *Telford v. Thurston County*, 95 Wn. App. 149, 974 P.2d 886 (1999), the Court of Appeals adopted the four-factor “*Telford*” test to determine whether a particular entity is the functional equivalent of an agency under the PRA:

(1) whether the entity performs a governmental function; (2) the level of government funding; (3) the extent of government involvement or regulation; and (4) whether the entity was created by the government.

Clarke v. Tri-Cities Animal Shelter, 144 Wn. App. 185, 192, 181 P.3d 881 (2008) (citing *Telford*, 95 Wn. App. at 162). Applying these factors the *Telford* court determined that both the Washington Association of Counties (WSAC) and the Washington Association of County Officials (WACO) were the functional equivalent of agencies and subject to the PRA:

Although WSAC and WACO retain some characteristics of private entities, their essential functions and attributes are those of a public agency. They serve a public purpose, are publicly funded, are run by government officials, and were created by government officials. Analyzing these factors in the context of the intent of the PDA and the other relevant statutes reinforces the conclusion that the associations are public. The PDA is to be construed broadly to promote disclosure and accountability.

Telford, 95 Wn. App. at 165,

Since then the Court of Appeals has used the *Telford* test to determine whether various other entities are the functional equivalent of

agencies under the PRA. *See Spokane Research & Defense Fund v. WCCDA*, 133 Wn. App. 602, 137 P.3d 120 (2006) (community development organization is not an agency under *Telford*); *Clarke*, 144 Wn. App. 185 (animal control corporation is an agency under *Telford*); *Shavlik v. Dawson Place*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 250, 452 P.3d 1241 (2019) (Dawson Place shelter is not an agency under *Telford*).

Since the *Telford* test was adopted by the Court of Appeals in 1999, this Court has applied the *Telford* test only once, adopting the test in *Fortgang, supra*, and ruling that the Woodland Park Zoo is not an agency under *Telford*. *Fortgang*, 187 Wn.2d at 534.¹

In this case WCOG made various PRA requests to WSAMA, which denied that it was an agency under *Telford*. WSAMA brought this action against WCOG seeking a declaratory judgment that WSAMA is not an agency under *Telford*. WCOG counterclaimed for a declaratory judgment that WSAMA is a *Telford* agency, and also joined the Municipal Research and Services Center (MRSC), which has close ties to WSAMA, and which also erroneously denied that it was a *Telford* agency. CP 23-34.

¹ The Court mentioned *Telford*, but did not apply the *Telford* test, in *Worthington v WestNET*, 182 Wn.2d 500, 507-08, 341 P.3d 995 (2014). Subsequently the *Telford* test was discussed in *Associated Press v. Wash. State Legislature*, 194 Wn.2d 915, 943-44, 454 P.3d 93 (2019) (Stephens, J., concurring/dissenting).

On cross motions for summary judgment WCOG submitted voluminous documentary evidence regarding WSAMA and the relationship between WSAMA board members and the cities that those board members represent. CP 173-382. The evidence established several undisputed facts, including:

- WSAMA was created in 1957 when five city attorneys, acting in the scope of their employment, received permission from the Association of Washington Cities (AWC) to form WSAMA as a separate organization. CP 116-117. AWC itself subsequently was sued to establish that AWC is an agency under *Telford*. CP 324.
- When WSAMA was incorporated in 1986 the registered office was the Municipal Research and Services Center (MRSC), then a part of the University of Washington. CP 117, 127. MRSC admitted that it is also a *Telford* agency only after WCOG sued MRSC **in this case**. CP 453-454.
- WSAMA is controlled by a board of directors consisting of full-time city attorneys acting in the scope of their employment as well as one attorney from MRSC. CP 217. All of these city attorneys use their offices and official email accounts for WSAMA business. CP 270. Other attorneys can only be ***non-voting*** “associate” members of WSAMA. CP 119, 245.

- The WSAMA board members have *never* treated WSAMA as a separate, pro bono client, and those board members have *never* checked for conflicts of interest between WSAMA and their cities, because WSAMA board members act in the scope of their employment as representatives of their cities. CP 179-191, 459.
- WSAMA routinely submits amicus briefs, written by city attorneys using city resources, to explicitly advocate for the interests of their cities. WSAMA amicus briefs have repeatedly represented to the Washington appellate courts that WSAMA is an organization of and for city attorneys, and that WSAMA advocates for the interests of the cities that WSAMA represents. CP 195-203, 272-323, 331-372.

WCOG proved that WSAMA members use substantial amounts of government resources, including city time, offices, computers, and staff. CP 44-48, 331-372. Tim Donaldson, Walla Walla City Attorney, admitted that WSAMA members routinely use substantial government resources for WSAMA, and that this is only permissible because WSAMA activities are in the service of the cities and their taxpayers:

The city has allowed me to use my city email account, computer, and other resources to participate in WSAMA amicus committee activities. My city email address (tdonaldson@wallawallawa.gov) was posted on the WSAMA web page when I became committee chair with directions that interested parties should send amicus requests there. Many committee members similarly use their

government email accounts for committee. We have all done so openly...

The city has encouraged and financially supported my WSAMA involvement, and it has permitted my use of city time and resources to pursue WSAMA amicus activities. It could not now plausibly assert or support a position that my WSAMA amicus activities are outside the scope of my employment by the city...

Walla Walla citizens would therefore have every right to complain if the city took the position that the time and public resources expended on my WSAMA amicus activities were unrelated to my city employment. (Emphasis added).

CP 244-246.

WSAMA has hundreds of members working for cities all over the state. As a result, WSAMA creates and receives an enormous amount of public records in cities all over the state. But because WSAMA has no centralized record-keeping system (other than a subset of WSAMA records maintained by MRSC), obtaining public records from WSAMA requires making PRA requests to a constantly changing group of cities.

When WSAMA filed this lawsuit, WCOG asked each of the cities represented by current board members to produce its WSAMA records, asking each city to prioritize the production of records that would indicate whether WSAMA members ask for permission before using agency resources, whether they keep their elected officials informed about WSAMA activities, and whether they attempt to identify, resolve or document any conflicts of interest between their cities and WSAMA. CP

179, 236-37. All of the cities from which WCOG requested WSAMA records responded to WCOG's request without questioning the proposition that the WSAMA records were public records of those cities. CP 174-191.

The cities produced an enormous number of WSAMA records. CP 179-191. And because each city produced a different subset of WSAMA records there were large numbers of duplicate records, requiring a time-consuming review process. CP 191. Six of ten cities were still working on the request more than five months after it was made. CP 181-191.

WSAMA's refusal to comply with the PRA creates substantial burdens and potential PRA liability for the cities represented by WSAMA members. After WCOG made its March 8, 2018 PRA request Spokane City Attorney Cary Driskell left a voicemail for attorney Collins at MRSC, indicating that he had just talked to "Sarah" (presumably Sara Watkins, Yakima City Attorney) to discuss WCOG's request for WSAMA records. Mr. Driskell's voicemail stated, in relevant part:

We think it would be a good idea to have a teleconference, maybe next week, so we can make sure that everybody is producing the same thing and we're not trapping one another.

CP 186. In light of the enormous amount of unorganized WSAMA records scattered in cities all over the state Mr. Driskell was understandably worried

about one or more cities incurring PRA liability as a result of the PRA requests for WSAMA records.

This burden is substantial, particularly for smaller cities. In January 2016, Tim Donaldson, Walla Walla City Attorney, informed WSAMA that he had to withdraw from the WSAMA amicus committee due to the cost and potential PRA liability created by WSAMA's failure to comply with the PRA:

The City Clerk only recently finished responding to a request that took over a year to fulfill. [WCOG's] January 15 request is small by comparison, but the city still spent three days identifying responsive records even after he clarified it. **The city is unfortunately not in a position where it can devote time and resources to the management of records on behalf of WSAMA.** (Emphasis added).

CP 180, 248.

In contrast to the extensive documentation submitted by WCOG, even though WSAMA was the plaintiff it intentionally failed to produce any meaningful evidence on the *Telford* factors. Instead, WSAMA offered a declaration from an attorney at MRSC who erroneously asserted that MRSC was not a *Telford* agency, mischaracterized the history of WSAMA, and failed to mention that only full-time city attorneys can be WSAMA board members. CP 103-110.

None of the WSAMA board members were willing to testify about the true relationship between WSAMA board members and their cities or

the extent to which WSAMA board members use their taxpayer funded time, offices and staff for WSAMA activities. Consequently WSAMA did not submit any declarations from any of the WSAMA board members to (other than Collins, who is *not* a city attorney) to rebut WCOG's evidence.

Because all of the WSAMA board members were acting in the scope of their employment as city attorneys, WCOG also joined the board members' cities as third-party defendants. CP 23-34. But the cities themselves, being beholden to their WSAMA lawyers, did not take any position on whether or not WSAMA was an agency under *Telford*.²

On June 21, 2019, the trial court issued an order on summary judgment that WSAMA was the functional equivalent of an agency under the PRA. CP 452.³ July 9, 2019, the trial court issued an amended order explaining its ruling, noting that the essential facts alleged by WCOG were undisputed:

² Attorneys for the cities filed nine (9) separate pleadings asking the trial court to dismiss the cities on various procedural grounds that had nothing to do with the merits. As far as WCOG can determine the trial court rejected all the erroneous joinder arguments made by the cities in their actual pleadings, but still concluded that WCOG had not pleaded a justiciable claim against the cities. WCOG maintains, and the record clearly shows, that this argument was never properly raised by WSAMA. *See Brief of Respondent at 22-23*. After reviewing WSAMA's opening brief WCOG determined that it was not necessary to pursue WCOG's cross-appeal of the erroneous dismissal of the cities. *See Notation Ruling (2/20/20)*.

³ Shortly after the trial court issued its order on summary judgment MRSC filed an answer admitting that MRSC is also the functional equivalent of an agency under the PRA. CP 453-54. The trial court awarded WCOG attorney's fees and costs against MRSC as well as WSAMA. CP 709. The judgment against MRSC has *not* been appealed.

6. WCOG asserts and WSAMA does not refute that WSAMA board members regularly use their taxpayer-funded time, offices, computers, email accounts and staff for WSAMA activities, without checking for conflicts of interest.

7. WCOG asserts and WSAMA does not refute that WSAMA board members act within the scope of their respective public employment as they provide legal and/or administrative services for WSAMA.

CP 459; **Appendix B.** Narrowly interpreting two of the *Telford* factors to weigh against WSAMA being an agency, the court still concluded that WSAMA is an agency under *Telford*. CP 460-66. The court rejected WSAMA’s argument that the basic legal concept of scope of employment was “inapposite” to the *Telford* test. CP 462-63, 836. The trial court correctly rejected the opinion of MRSC attorney Collins that the other WSAMA board members were “independent volunteers.” *See* CP 104.

WSAMA appealed to the Court of Appeals, which reversed in an *Unpublished Opinion*. Disregarding the underlying policy of the PRA, the appellate court interpreted *Telford* so narrowly that it concluded that *none* of the *Telford* factors were applicable to WSAMA. **Appendix A.**

V. ARGUMENT

A. **The Court of Appeals’ narrow interpretation of *Telford* is inconsistent with case law and the underlying policy of the PRA.**

The *Telford* test must be applied in light of the purpose of the PRA, which is to promote the transparency and accountability of organizations,

like WSAC and WACO, that serve public purposes, are funded by government, and are run by government officials. *Telford*, 95 Wn. App. at 165-166. As this Court noted in *Fortgang*,

The *Telford* test is designed to prevent the government from operating in secrecy via a private surrogate. It is not designed to sweep within PRA coverage every private organization that contracts with government. This remains true even if the contracts in question are governed or authorized by statute.

187 Wn.2d at 533. WSAMA is *not* a “private” organization that “contracts” with government. It is an organization of city attorneys, acting as such, who use government resources for public purposes. To allow WSAMA to hide its governmental actions behind the veneer of a non-profit corporation is directly contrary to the purpose of the *Telford* test as stated in *Fortgang*.

The Court of Appeals never acknowledged the underlying purpose of the *Telford* test. Instead, on each of the four factors, the court distorted the *Telford* test to reach an erroneous, anti-transparency result.

i. Governmental Function

It is undisputed that WSAMA routinely submits amicus briefs, written by city attorneys using city resources, to explicitly advocate for the interests of their cities. The Court of Appeals admitted that filing amicus briefs on behalf of government is a governmental function:

WCOG is correct in that to the extent that WSAMA represents its interest in these cases as equivalent to the

cities' interest, it is performing the governmental function of advocating on behalf of the government.

Unpublished Opinion at 11.

But the court still held that this factor was *not* met because, in theory, private parties could also file amicus briefs in support of cities. *Id.* This false equivalence between WSAMA and a private amicus party is *not* consistent with the purpose of the *Telford* test or the policy of the PRA. Where government lawyers use government resources to file amicus briefs in support of government they are performing a governmental function and should be subject to the PRA.

ii. Government Funding

Like WSAMA, the Court of Appeals devoted much of its attention to the largely irrelevant fact that WSAMA—the non-profit corporation itself—has a small budget of member dues to pay for things like conferences. *Unpublished Opinion* at 11-12. But what makes WSAMA a *Telford* agency is the undisputed fact that WSAMA uses substantial government resources for free. As the trial court correctly found:

WCOG asserts and WSAMA does not refute that WSAMA board members regularly use their taxpayer-funded time, offices, computers, email accounts and staff for WSAMA activities, without checking for conflicts of interest.

CP 459. In his resignation letter, the Walla Walla City Attorney freely admitted that WSAMA members use substantial government resources, that this amounts to direct financial support of WSAMA by cities, and that:

Walla Walla citizens would therefore have every right to complain if the city took the position that the time and public resources expended on my WSAMA amicus activities were unrelated to my city employment.

CP 246.

In contrast, even though WSAMA is the *plaintiff* in this case, it deliberately failed to produce any evidence whatsoever, and made no attempt to even estimate the value of government resources used by WSAMA. Even after WCOG's motion pointed out that WSAMA had ignored the value of government resources used by WSAMA members, particularly board members, CP 727-28, WSAMA again ignored the issue in its reply, but filed a declaration from a former Auburn attorney who speciously compared WSAMA to the Kiwanis Club. CP 401.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals reversed, erroneously blaming WCOG for failing to provide more detailed evidence of the exact value of these government resources, and concluding without any metrics that the value of the resources used by WSAMA was "not shown to be very high." *Unpublished Opinion* at 13. This analysis is inconsistent with the PRA in several ways.

First, the Court of Appeals erroneously shifted the burden of proof to WCOG without explanation. Under the PRA the burden of proof is always on the agency, not the requestor. RCW 42.56.550(4). Furthermore, it is a well-established rule that, where evidence which would properly be part of a case is within the control of the party whose interest it would naturally be to produce the evidence, the finder of fact may draw an inference that the evidence would be unfavorable. *State v. Blair*, 117 Wn.2d 479, 485-86, 816 P.2d 718 (1991).

To interpret the *Telford* test to require the defendant requestor to prove exactly how much resources public officials are using is antithetical to the PRA, and contrary to the general policy of the PRA which places the burden of proof on the agencies. If the court felt that there were unresolved issues of fact as to the value of government resources then the court should have remanded the matter to the trial court. By requiring the *defendant* requestor to prove the value of resources used by WSAMA the Court of Appeals rewarded the WSAMA board members for intentionally failing to present relevant evidence in support of their own lawsuit.

Second, the Court of Appeals had no right to decide, without any standard whatsoever, that WSAMA's unlimited use of cities resources was not "high" enough to justify finding that WSAMA was funded by government for purposes of *Telford*. As this Court noted in *Fortgang*,

The *Telford* test is designed to prevent the government from operating in secrecy via a private surrogate. It is not designed to sweep within PRA coverage every private organization that contracts with government.

WSAMA is *not* a private organization with a contractual right to certain limited government resources. It is an organization of city attorneys who use unlimited government resources for free without even bothering to account for them. To be consistent with the policy of the PRA the Court of Appeals should have required declarations from the actual WSAMA board members to prove the value of the services used and the municipal, policies, if any, that would allow those board members to use such resources for an allegedly-private organization that was not part of their jobs.

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