No. 99415-3

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### WASHINGTON STATE ASSOCIATION OF MUNICIPAL ATTORNEYS, a Washington nonprofit corporation, Respondent,

v.

WASHINGTON COALITION FOR OPEN GOVERNMENT, a Washington nonprofit corporation, Petitioner.

### **RESPONDENT WSAMA'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

PACIFICA LAW GROUP LLP Matthew J. Segal, WSBA #29797 Gregory J. Wong, WSBA #39329 Claire E. McNamara, WSBA #50097 JESSICA LEISER (ATTORNEY AT LAW) Jessica Leiser, WSBA #49349

Attorneys for Respondent WSAMA

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

#### V. ARGUMENT

Although it spends little more than one page analyzing them, WCOG cites three grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4). It contends that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's *Fortgang* decision and the Court of Appeals' *Telford* decision, and that the case involves an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. at 19-20. As WCOG's petition shows, review is unwarranted on any of these grounds.

# A. The Court of Appeals' analysis accords with *Telford* and *Fortgang* presenting no conflict warranting review.

This Court will accept a petition for review if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Court or with a published opinion of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2). WCOG claims a conflict with only two cases, *Telford* and *Fortgang*, but fails to identify any actual conflict between either case and the Court of Appeals' decision. Instead, WCOG's argument expresses dissatisfaction with how the court applied *Telford* and *Fortgang* from a policy perspective. Pet. at 10-13, 15, 19. And while it is true that the PRA has a broad overarching mandate in favor of *government* transparency, under the *Telford* test, courts

only extend the PRA to private entities in the limited instance where they "step into the shoes" of public agencies sufficiently to be treated as one. *Clarke v. Tri-Cities Animal Care & Control Shelter*, 144 Wn. App. 185, 194, 181 P.3d 881 (2008). As explained below, that WCOG takes issue with the result of the Court of Appeals' application of that test does not change that it is a consistent application, particularly as *Fortgang* interpreted *Telford*.<sup>7</sup>

# 1. The Court of Appeals' government function analysis is consistent with *Telford* and *Fortgang*.

Courts evaluate the first *Telford* factor, whether an entity performs a government function, based on whether the entity's activities are "*core* government functions or functions that *could not* be delegated to the private sector." *Fortgang*, 187 Wn.2d at 524 (quotation and citations omitted) (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals relied on this standard and considered whether legislation "defines an activity as inherently public, prevents it from being delegated to the private sector, or obligates the entity at issue to perform a function." Op. at 8-9 (citing *Fortgang*, 187 Wn.2d at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In *Fortgang*, this Court adopted the *Telford* balancing test. 187 Wn.2d at 523. Under this test, courts examine whether: (1) the entity performs a core, non-delegable government function; (2) government primarily funds the entity's activities; (3) government is significantly involved with or regulates the entity's day-to-day activities; and (4) government created the entity. *Id.* at 524-32. Given that *Fortgang* is the controlling authority regarding functional equivalency, if the Court of Appeals' determination is consistent with *Fortgang*, then it should be consistent with *Telford*.

524-25, *Clarke*, 144 Wn. App. at 192-94, and *Shavlik v. Dawson Place*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 250, 262-63, 452 P.3d 1241 (2019)).

Applying these considerations, the court accurately concluded "no legislation delegates authority to WSAMA" and "WSAMA's activity of hosting CLE conferences is a common educational activity taken by private entities and is not a uniquely government function." Op. at 8-9.<sup>8</sup> The court also rejected WCOG's contention that WSAMA's amicus activity addressing issues of interest to member cities and towns is a non-delegable government function when "a private party could be similarly concerned by these public issues and submit an amicus brief" regarding the same topics. *Id.* at 11.

WCOG ignores this analysis and its alignment with *Telford*, complaining that the court should not have assessed whether a private party could engage in the same amicus activity as WSAMA. Pet. at 12.<sup>9</sup> Yet this Court has expressly directed that courts should evaluate this factor based on whether an entity's function "could not be delegated to the private sector." *Fortgang*, 187 Wn.2d at 524.

<sup>8</sup> The superior court also concluded that WSAMA's functions of providing conferences and amicus briefs are not "under the government's unique purview." CP 460-62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> WCOG raises no conflict with the Court of Appeals' conclusion regarding WSAMA's primary function of providing CLEs, nor does WCOG contest that serving as an amicus is a function that numerous private parties perform.

Further, the Court of Appeals' conclusion that WSAMA's amicus activities are not core government functions, even if they may support government viewpoints, aligns with *Telford* and *Fortgang*. As *Fortgang* makes clear, acting as a government entity *could* act does not establish that an activity is a core government function under the *Telford* test. *See Fortgang*, 187 Wn.2d at 514, 526 (operating zoo not a government function despite fact that City operated same zoo for decades because a private entity could assume the role). The conclusion that a private party could perform an amicus function, and therefore weighing the factor "against finding that WSAMA is a public entity," Op. at 10, is consistent with case law.

# 2. The Court of Appeals properly assessed the level and nature of WSAMA's funding.

As to the "government funding" factor, the court again applied the framework from *Telford* and *Fortgang*, which considers percentage of funding and kind of government funding a private entity receives. Op. at 11-13 (citing 187 Wn.2d at 527-529; 95 Wn. App. at 165). As part of this analysis, the court correctly identified that under *Fortgang*, "a fee-for-service model weighs against" finding functional equivalency, and that under *Telford*, courts consider if an entity receives "in-kind support and other governmental benefits." Op. at 12 (citing 187 Wn.2d at 528-29; 95 Wn. App. at 165).

Applying these principles, the court accurately concluded that WSAMA's budget, over 91 percent of which comes from a fee-for-service model from its conferences, "does not suggest WSAMA is publicly funded." Op. at 12; CP 134. The court also determined that the record does not support WCOG's contention that WSAMA uses "large amounts" of city resources as in-kind support. *Id.* at 13. Accordingly, the court found that this factor weighs against functional equivalence. *Id.* at 14. WCOG does not identify a conflict with this determination, but instead makes several assertions unsupported by the law or the record.

First, WCOG is incorrect that the nature of public funding in WSAMA's budget is "largely irrelevant." *See* Pet. at 12. WCOG's approach is contrary to *Fortgang* and *Telford. See* 187 Wn.2d at 529 (observing, "no Washington case concludes that an entity's funding supports PRA coverage in the absence of majority public funding"); 95 Wn. App. at 165 (holding the entities were "mostly supported by public funds").

Second, WCOG attempts to manufacture a conflict based solely on the unquantified value of time and resources volunteers contribute to WSAMA. WCOG falsely asserts that it submitted "voluminous documentary evidence" that "proved" the "undisputed fact" that WSAMA members use "unlimited" and "substantial amounts of government

11

resources." Pet. at 4-5, 12, 14.<sup>10</sup> WSAMA, however, did dispute this contention and produced evidence regarding its direct funding and resources. CP 845-51, 385-86, 105-106, 400-02 (setting forth WSAMA's arguments and evidence, including regarding one publicly employed WSAMA member's time commitment and resources used to volunteer).<sup>11</sup> As the Court of Appeals correctly concluded based on the actual record, the "use of city e-mail" or fixed costs like use of a city computer come at either no or negligible public cost. Op. at 13. This is no different than many volunteer activities, such as bar association involvement, which public attorneys engage in as members of the profession. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected WCOG's arguments. *Id.* at 14.

Third, WCOG is incorrect that the Court of Appeals "erroneously shifted the burden of proof" and "should have required" WSAMA to submit additional evidence to refute WCOG's claims. Pet. at 14-15. In support,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> What WCOG actually submitted and relies on here is the following: (1) a letter offering one city attorney's personal opinion, (2) a handful of emails from WSAMA Amicus Committee members using public and private email addresses (some sent at close of business), (3) two memoranda in which the Amicus Committee Chair used his public letterhead, (4) sections of WSAMA amicus briefs on which volunteer amicus writers included their public employment titles, (5) the superior court's order, and (6) WSAMA's former Amicus Committee Chair's declaration, which nowhere states that WSAMA members use "substantial amounts of government resources" as WCOG asserts. Pet. at 4-6, 12-13 (citing CP 44-48, 270, 195-203, 331-72, 244-46, 459).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Contrary to WCOG's assertion that a WSAMA member's declaration "speciously compared WSAMA to the Kiwanis Club," Pet. at 13, the declaration quoted from a City of Auburn Resolution authorizing reimbursement for its employees' membership in professional organizations or civic or service organizations, like WSAMA. CP at 401, 406.

WCOG cites only inapposite authority without analysis. Pet. at 14.<sup>12</sup> Additionally, the Court of Appeals made no determination "erroneously blaming WCOG", Pet. at 13, for not producing evidence—let alone any determination regarding burden of proof at all.<sup>13</sup> It simply held that the evidence of record did not entitle WCOG to relief.

Further, the Court of Appeals' approach to the record accords with *Fortgang*. In *Fortgang*, a records requester asserted that the zoo's public funding should include the value of city land that the zoo sits on for free—without providing any evidence of the property's actual value. *Fortgang*, 187 Wn.2d at 527. Declining to analyze facts not in the record, this Court held the relevant inquiry should be on the fact that the zoo "receives a majority of its funding from private sources." *Id.* This Court did not remand

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> WCOG cites RCW 42.56.550(4), which addresses PRA fee awards. RCW 42.56.550(1) addresses burden of proof, but for government agencies refusing to produce records on grounds of exemption. That is not at issue here, especially after WCOG conceded WSAMA properly produced and withheld limited materials (despite not being subject to the PRA). CP 747, 565. WCOG also cites *State v. Blair*, 117 Wn.2d 479, 485, 816 P.2d 718 (1991), which analyzes whether prosecutors may comment on failure to call a witness that it "is clear the defendant was able to produce" in a criminal case. *Id.* at 487. *Blair* establishes that this "missing witness inference" applies only in specific circumstances not at issue here. *See id.* at 488-91 (discussing the relevant considerations).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Notably, WCOG was the moving party regarding whether WSAMA members were acting in their scope of employment and purportedly generating public costs from engaging with WSAMA, and sought declaratory relief in part, on that basis. CP 722. Thus, WCOG bore the ultimate burden of proof on this issue. *See Singer v. Metz Co.*, 107 Wash. 562, 569, 182 P. 614 (1919) (concluding burden remained on party claiming scope of employment until end of trial). Moreover, because WCOG's argument regarding these costs was substantially speculative, WSAMA was not required to disprove it. *Jacobsen v. State*, 89 Wn.2d 104, 110-11, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977) (stating when moving party fails to sustain initial burden of proof, it is unnecessary for nonmovant to submit counter evidence).

to compel the zoo to assess and submit evidence regarding the value of the land to refute the claims that it was a functional equivalent—yet that is exactly what WCOG advocates should have happened here.

Finally, WCOG's erroneous focus on cities' PRA compliance requirements, Pet. at 7, 15, is equally unavailing. Cities regularly process records requests of all kinds, and there is no greater burden when they do so related to WSAMA than in any other context.<sup>14</sup> That WCOG is able to obtain all relevant public records from cities cuts against its argument that WSAMA is their functional equivalent. Additionally, the Court of Appeals only *acknowledged* that records WSAMA members create in the scope of their public employment would be subject to requests to their public employers. Op. at 19. The court then plainly cautioned that this concept was "*not* itself a factor that determines the characterization of an organization" under *Telford. Id.* (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals' analysis in this regard presents no conflict.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Tellingly, not a single city WCOG attempted to implead in this matter raised any objection about the "burden" of responding to these requests. CP at 73; 23-34; RP 17-30. Indeed, given how many requests cities address regularly, WCOG's requests to the cities in this matter were hardly a "substantial burden." *See Performance Audit: The Effect of Public Records Requests on State and Local Governments*, Washington State Auditor's Office, (August 29, 2016),

https://portal.sao.wa.gov/ReportSearch/Home/ViewReportFile?arn=1017396&isFinding= false&sp=false (last visited Mar. 3, 2021) (stating public agencies responded to *at least* 285,000 PRA requests in 2016 and that number of requests increases each year). WCOG's reliance on a public attorney's voicemail regarding ensuring consistent PRA compliance practices in the face of WCOG's numerous requests also fails to establish such a burden.

# **3.** The Court of Appeals' assessment of the government control factor accords with *Telford* and *Fortgang*.

As this Court has stated, the key to the government control *Telford* factor is whether the government controls "day-to-day operations." *Fortgang*, 187 Wn.2d at 530. Pursuant to *Telford*, also relevant is whether "there is *no* private sector involvement or membership." 95 Wn. App. at 165 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals relied directly on these standards to assess this factor. Op. at 14-15.

As the court observed, no government entity controls or directs WSAMA either in its day-to-day activities or in its overall activities. Op. at 15; CP 104-105. Specifically, no single city, nor even all cities collectively, have any authority to control WSAMA operations, including dissolution. RCW 24.03.220. Cities do not have a designated position, Board seat, or membership space with WSAMA. CP 385. And as the court acknowledged, unlike the *Telford* entities, whose membership consisted *exclusively* of public employees or officials, WSAMA has both private membership and board members. Op. at 15; CP 105, 385. Moreover, the court properly determined that "unlike in *Telford*, private citizens often have significant control over WSAMA's day-to-day affairs by serving on its committees." Op. at 15-16 (also citing *Fortgang*). The record supports this, detailing the significant involvement and input from non-government employed

WSAMA members in contrast to the *Telford* entities, which had no such private sector guidance or participation. *See* CP 385-86; 95 Wn. App. at 165.

Ignoring that the record supports the distinctions the court made between WSAMA and the *Telford* entities, WCOG simply asserts that WSAMA's "governing structure" is "indistinguishable" from those entities. Pet. at 17. WCOG fails to buttress this assertion with any record citation or analysis from *Telford*. And unlike WSAMA, the entities in *Telford* operated as directed by the 35 statutes mentioning them (including their enabling legislation) and did so entirely based on direct county funding. 95 Wn. App. at 163-64.

Moreover, WCOG's approach, based on a scope of employment analysis, would create a conflict with existing case law by effectively supplanting the *Telford* test. Pet. at 16-17.<sup>15</sup> WCOG relied almost entirely on the scope of employment test from *Nissen v. Pierce County*, 183 Wn.2d 863, 876, 357 P.3d 45 (2015), before the superior court. CP 741-46. When confronted with black-letter law that *Nissen* does not govern functional

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